

# WORKING PAPER SERIES NO. 343 / APRIL 2004

INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH FORUM ON MONETARY POLICY

MONETARY DISCRETION, PRICING COMPLEMENTARITY AND DYNAMIC MULTIPLE EQUILIBRIA

by Robert G. King and Alexander L. Wolman



# WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO. 343 / APRIL 2004

INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH FORUM ON MONETARY POLICY

MONETARY DISCRETION, PRICING COMPLEMENTARITY AND DYNAMIC MULTIPLE EQUILIBRIA'

> by Robert G. King<sup>2</sup> and Alexander L. Wolman<sup>3</sup>

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract\_id=532986.







ni 2004 an publications will carry a motif taken from the €100 banknote.



I This paper is an outgrowth of the authors' work in progress with Aubhik Khan, available at http://www.rich.frb.org/pubs/wpapers/pdfs/
 wp01-8.pdf; it does not necessarily represent the views of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Board, or the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond. We have benefited from converstations with Russell Cooper, Huberto Ennis, Mark Gertler, Andreas Hornstein, Olivier Jeanne, John Leahy and Henry Siu, and from presentations at Harvard, Iowa, MIT, the New York Fed, UQAM, Western Ontario, Wharton, York, the conference on Dynamic Models at the Bank of Canada, July 2003, and the International Research Forum on Monetary Policy, November 2003.
 2 Boston University, email: rking@bu.edu.

3 Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, email: alexander.wolman@rich.frb.org.

#### **International Research Forum on Monetary Policy**

The International Research Forum on Monetary Policy is an initiative organised and sponsored by the European Central Bank, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Center for German and European Studies at Georgetown University and the Center for Financial Studies at Goethe University. The aim of the Forum is to foster discussion on new research on monetary policy issues that are relevant from a global perspective.

The Forum organises regular conferences at locations alternating between the euro area and the United States. The first one took place at the ECB on 5 and 6 July 2002. The second took place at the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System in Washington on 14 and 15 November 2003. The issues (336-345) of the ECB Working Paper Series contain the papers presented on that occasion; the programme of the conference and the invited discussions can be accessed at http://www.ecb.int/events/conf/intforum/intforum2.htm

Editorial assistance in preparing the papers was provided by Susana Sommaggio.

#### © European Central Bank, 2004

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

**Telephone** +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

**Fax** +49 69 1344 6000

**Telex** 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and noncommercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

## CONTENTS

Abstract		4
Non-technical summary		5
1	Introduction	7
2	Model	9
	2.1 Households	9
	2.2 Firms	Ш
	2.3 Defining complementarity in	
	price setting	12
	2.4 Timing	12
	2.5 Complementarity with an exogenous money stock	13
	2.6 Summarizing the economy by $p_0$ and $m$	13
	2.7 Two distortions and monetary policy	15
3	Equilibrium with homogeneous policy	16
	3.1 Complementarity under homogeneous monetary policy	18
	3.2 Equilibrium analysis of steady states	18
	3.2.1 Uniqueness occurs at zero inflation	19
	3.2.2 Multiplicity or nonexistence must	
	occur with positive inflation	19
	3.3 Point-in-time equilibria	21
4	Discretion under perfect foresight	22
	4.1 Constructing discretionary equilibria	23
	4.2 Optimistic equilibrium	25
	4.2.1 Exploiting initial conditions	25
	4.2.2 An inflation bias equilibrium	26
	4.3 Pessimistic equilibrium	26
5	Stochastic equilibria	27
	5.1 Constructing discretionary equilibria	28
	5.2 Optimal discretionary policy	28
	5.3 Effects of sunspots	29
6	Relationship to existing monetary policy	
	literature	29
	6.1 New keynesian models	30
	6.2 Albanesi, Chari and Christiano	31
7	Discretion and multiplicity more generally	32
	7.1 Greater price stickiness	33
	7.2 Empirical implications	33
	7.3 Discretionary policy in other contexts	34
8	Summary and conclusions	35
References		37
Aj	opendix	39
Figures 4		
European Central Bank working paper series 46		

2

#### Abstract

In a plain-vanilla New Keynesian model with two-period staggered price-setting, discretionary monetary policy leads to multiple equilibria. Complementarity between pricing decisions of forward-looking firms underlies the multiplicity, which is intrinsically dynamic in nature. At each point in time, the discretionary monetary authority optimally accommodates the level of predetermined prices when setting the money supply because it is concerned solely about real activity. Hence, if other firms set a high price in the current period, an individual firm will optimally choose a high price because it knows that the monetary authority next period will accommodate with a high money supply. Under commitment, the mechanism generating complementarity is absent: the monetary authority commits not to respond to future predetermined prices. Multiple equilibria also arise in other similar contexts where (i) a policymaker cannot commit, and (ii) forward-looking agents determine a state variable to which future policy responds.

JEL Nos. E5, E61, D78

Keywords: monetary policy, discretion, time-consistency, multiple equilibria, complementarity

#### Non-technical summary

In the debate over rules versus discretion for monetary policy, the primary argument against discretion has been that it leads to higher average inflation than is optimal with commitment. In the consensus basic model which has developed following Kydland and Prescott [1977] and Barro and Gordon [1983], the discretionary monetary authority seeks to produce unexpected inflation to stimulate real output, which is inefficiently low because of distortions in the economy. But since it cannot fool agents in rational expectations equilibrium, the discretionary monetary authority produces expected inflation that has a negligible real effect on output, while imposing other costs on the economy.

By contrast, this paper provides an example of a different, potentially adverse, consequence of discretionary monetary policy: it can lead to multiple equilibria and, thus, to the possibility of endogenous fluctuations in inflation and real activity that are not related to the economy's fundamentals. We illustrate this possibility within a simple dynamic macroeconomic model that has important New Keynesian features: (i) monopolistic competition, making output inefficiently low; and (ii) a staggered pricing structure in which firms set nominal prices that must be held fixed for two periods. These two features give the monetary authority some leverage over real activity.

In this simple setting, the multiplicity of equilibria derives from interaction between two features of the economy. First, firms adopt forward-looking pricing rules because their nominal prices are held fixed for two periods. In choosing a price, firms in the current period need to form expectations about the behavior of the monetary authority – and firms – in the next period. A higher future money supply leads to a higher future nominal marginal cost, which raises the optimal price for a firm in the current period. Second, under discretion, the monetary authority takes as given prices set in previous periods in determining its choice of the money stock in each period. Since its concern is to maximize the welfare of the representative agent, which depends on real variables, it chooses a money stock that is proportional to the price set by firms in the previous period, which we call a homogenous money stock rule.

The combination of forward-looking pricing with discretionary policy leads to complementarity between the price-setting actions of firms: if all other firms set a higher price in the current period, the monetary authority will set a higher money supply in the subsequent period, raising the desired price for a single firm in the current period.

We show that this policy-induced complementarity implies that there are typically two private-sector equilibria which can prevail at any point in time and two steady-state equilibria. In general, there is one equilibrium in which firms expect small adjustments and the newly set price is relatively close to the price that firms set last period. But there is another in which the adjusting firms make a much larger adjustment.

Because this multiplicity of equilibria arises for arbitrary homogenous monetary policies, it also arises with an optimizing monetary authority who cannot commit to future actions. We begin by considering settings of perfect foresight, in which the monetary authority and private agents each assume that only one of the two types of private sector equilibria will occur. We show that there are two steady-state discretionary equilibria, one with low inflation bias and one with high inflation bias. It is notable that the complementarity which generates multiple equilibria is entirely due, in our model, to the nature of monetary policy under discretion. That is: our specification of preferences and the labor market is such that there is no complementarity in the price-setting behavior of firms if the central bank maintains a fixed nominal money stock. Our setup thus highlights the role of discretionary monetary policy in generating complementarity.

While our results concern the interaction between a monetary policymaker and a forward-looking private sector that sets prices for only two periods, they are indicative of a more general phenomenon, both in the context of monetary policy and in other areas of economics. The necessary features for the kind of phenomenon we describe are as follows: (i) a policymaker that cannot commit to future actions, and (ii) forward-looking private agents whose current actions determine a state-variable to which the policymaker responds in the future. These features seem quite widespread, suggesting that lack of commitment may be an important cause of economic instability.

## 1 Introduction

In the debate over rules versus discretion for monetary policy, the primary argument against discretion has been that it leads to higher average inflation than is optimal with commitment. In the consensus basic model which has developed following Kydland and Prescott [1977] and Barro and Gordon [1983], the discretionary monetary authority seeks to produce unexpected inflation to stimulate real output, which is inefficiently low because of distortions in the economy. But since it cannot fool agents in rational expectations equilibrium, the discretionary monetary authority produces expected inflation that has a negligible real effect on output, while imposing other costs on the economy.

By contrast, this paper provides an example of a different, potentially adverse, consequence of discretionary monetary policy: it can lead to multiple equilibria and, thus, to the possibility of endogenous fluctuations in inflation and real activity that are not related to the economy's fundamentals. We illustrate this possibility within a simple dynamic macroeconomic model that has important New Keynesian features: (i) monopolistic competition, making output inefficiently low; and (ii) a staggered pricing structure in which firms set nominal prices that must be held fixed for two periods. These two features give the monetary authority some leverage over real activity.

In this simple setting, the multiplicity of equilibria derives from interaction between two features of the economy. First, firms adopt *forward-looking pricing rules* because their nominal prices are held fixed for two periods. In choosing a price, firms in the current period need to form expectations about the behavior of the monetary authority – and firms – in the next period. A higher future money supply leads to a higher future nominal marginal cost, which raises the optimal price for a firm in the current period. Second, under discretion, the monetary authority takes as given prices set in previous periods in determining its choice of the money stock in each period. Since its concern is to maximize the welfare of the representative agent, which depends on real variables, it chooses a money stock that is proportional to the price set by firms in the previous period, which we call a *homogenous money stock rule*.

The combination of forward-looking pricing with discretionary policy leads to *complementarity* between the price-setting actions of firms: if all other firms set a higher price in the current period, the monetary authority will set a higher money supply in the subsequent period, raising the desired price for a single firm in the current period.

We show that this policy-induced complementarity implies that there are typically

two private-sector equilibria which can prevail at any point in time and two steady-state equilibria. In general, there is one equilibrium in which firms expect small adjustments and the newly set price is relatively close to the price that firms set last period. But there is another in which the adjusting firms make a much larger adjustment.

Because this multiplicity of equilibria arises for arbitrary homogenous monetary policies, it also arises with an optimizing monetary authority who cannot commit to future actions. We begin by considering settings of perfect foresight, in which the monetary authority and private agents each assume that only one of the two types of private sector equilibria will occur. We show that there are two steady-state discretionary equilibria, one with low inflation bias and one with high inflation bias. It is notable that the complementarity which generates multiple equilibria is entirely due, in our model, to the nature of monetary policy under discretion. That is: our specification of preferences and the labor market is such that there is no complementarity in the price-setting behavior of firms if the central bank maintains a fixed nominal money stock. Our setup thus highlights the role of discretionary monetary policy in generating complementarity.

There is a rich literature on the importance of commitment for monetary policy. In section 6 we relate our analyses to three branches of the existing literature. The first comprises the seminal works of Kydland and Prescott [1977] and Barro and Gordon [1983]; they studied reduced-form linear models in which the policymaker had quadratic preferences, and emphasized that discretion led to inflation bias. The second branch is associated with the recent optimizing sticky-price models, which have typically been analyzed using LQ approximations. The emphasis in this work has been on inflation bias and stabilization bias. Finally, Albanesi, Chari and Christiano [2003] have show that discretion leads to multiple equilibria in a different kind of sticky price model – one without the endogenous state variables which play such a crucial role here.

While our results concern an interaction between a monetary policymaker and a forward-looking private sector that sets prices for only two periods, they are indicative of a more general phenomenon, both in the context of monetary policy and in other areas of economics. In section 7, we discuss some empirical implications of our model, consider the consequences of extending it to multiple periods of price-setting, and describe other potential settings in which similar phenomena might arise. Section 8 concludes.

## 2 Model

The model economy that we study is a particular fully articulated "New Keynesian" framework, featuring monopolistic competition and nominal prices which are fixed for two periods. There is staggered pricing, with one-half of a continuum of firms adjusting price in each period. Since all of the firms have the same technology and face the same demand conditions, it is natural to think of all adjusting firms as choosing the same price. We impose this symmetry condition in our analysis.

There are many different types of New Keynesian models, which differ in terms of their implications for the extent of complementarity in price-setting. Our model assumes that (i) there is a constant elasticity demand structure originating from a Dixit-Stiglitz aggregator of differentiated products; (ii) there is a centralized labor market so that the common marginal cost for all firms is powerfully affected by aggregate demand; and (iii) preferences for goods and leisure display exactly offsetting income and substitution effects of wage changes, as is common in the literature on real business cycles. Kimball [1995] and Woodford [2002] have stressed that these assumptions make it difficult to generate complementarity between price-setters when there is an exogenous money stock. As we will, see our model has exactly zero complementarity in this situation. From our perspective, this is a virtue because it highlights the importance of the policy-based complementarity that arises from monetary policy under discretion.

#### 2.1 Households

There is a representative household, which values consumption  $(c_t)$  and leisure  $(l_t)$  according to a standard time separable expected utility objective,

$$E_t\{\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\beta^j u(c_{t+j}, l_{t+j})\}\tag{1}$$

with  $\beta$  being the discount factor. We assume that the momentary utility function takes the form

$$u(c_t, l_t) = \log(c_t) + \chi l_t \tag{2}$$

which implies that there are exactly off-setting income and substitution effects of wage changes. It also has some other convenient implications that we describe later.

As is standard in the analyses of imperfect competition macro models that follow Blanchard and Kiyotaki [1987] and Rotemberg [1987], we assume that consumption is an aggregate of a continuum of individual goods,  $c_t = \left[\int_0^1 c_t(z)^{(\varepsilon-1)/\varepsilon} dz\right]^{\varepsilon/(\varepsilon-1)}$ . Households distribute their expenditure efficiently across these goods, resulting in constant-elasticity demands for individual products from each of the two types of firms which they will encounter in the equilibrium below:

$$c_{j,t} = \left(\frac{P_{j,t}}{P_t}\right)^{-\varepsilon} c_t, \ j = 0, 1.$$
(3)

The subscript j in (3) denotes the age of the nominal price, so that  $P_{0,t}$  is the price set by firms in period t and  $P_{1,t}$  is the price set by firms one period previously ( $P_{1,t} = P_{0,t-1}$ ). Likewise,  $c_{j,t}$  is the period-t demand for goods produced by a firm that set its price in period t - j. The price level which enters in these demands takes the form

$$P_t = \left[\frac{1}{2}P_{0,t}^{1-\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2}P_{1,t}^{1-\varepsilon}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}.$$
(4)

We assume that households also hold money to finance expenditure, according to

$$M_{t} = \int_{0}^{1} P_{t}(z)c_{t}(z) dz$$
(5)

so that our model imposes a constant, unit velocity, in common with many macroeconomic analyses.<sup>1</sup> We adopt this specification because it allows us to abstract from all the wealth and substitution effects that normally arise in optimizing models of money demand, so as to focus on the consequences of price-stickiness. With constant-elasticity demands for each good, the money-demand specification in (5) implies

$$M_t = P_t c_t. (6)$$

Since this is a representative agent model and since no real accumulation is possible given the technologies described below, we are not too explicit about the consumptionsaving aspect of the household's problem; it will be largely irrelevant in general equilibrium except for asset-pricing. We simply assume that there is a Lagrange multiplier that takes the form

$$\lambda_t = \frac{\partial u(c_t, l_t)}{\partial c_t} = \frac{1}{c_t},\tag{7}$$

and that households equate the marginal rate of substitution between leisure and consumption to the real wage rate prevailing in the competitive labor market, i.e.,

$$w_t = \frac{\partial u(c_t, l_t) / \partial l_t}{\partial u(c_t, l_t) / \partial c_t} = \chi c_t.$$
(8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We think of this quantity equation as the limiting version of a standard money demand function which occurs as the own return on money is raised toward the nominal interest rate (see King and Wolman [1999] for some additional discussion).

In each case, the second equality indicates the implications of the specific utility function introduced above.

#### 2.2 Firms

Firms produce output according to a linear technology, where for convenience we set the marginal product of labor to one. So, for each type of firm, the production function is

$$c_{j,t} = n_{j,t}.\tag{9}$$

This implies that real marginal cost is unrelated to the scale of the firm or its type and is simply

$$\psi_t = w_t$$

and that nominal marginal cost is  $\Psi_t = P_t \psi_t = P_t w_t$ 

Much of our analysis will focus on the implications of efficient price-setting by the monopolistically competitive firm. The adjusting firms in period t are assumed to set prices so as to maximize the expected present discounted value of their revenues, using the household's marginal utility as a (possibly stochastic) discount factor. That is, they choose  $P_{0,t}$  to maximize their market value,

$$[\lambda_t (P_{0,t} - \Psi_t)c_{0,t} + \beta E_t \lambda_{t+1} \frac{P_t}{P_{t+1}} (P_{0,t} - \Psi_{t+1})c_{1,t+1}].$$

As monopolistic competitors, firms understand that  $c_{0,t} = (\frac{P_{0,t}}{P_t})^{-\varepsilon}c_t$  and that  $c_{1,t+1} = (\frac{P_{0,t}}{P_{t+1}})^{-\varepsilon}c_{t+1}$ , but take  $c_t, P_t, c_{t+1}$  and  $P_{t+1}$  as not affected by their pricing decisions. The efficient price must accordingly satisfy

$$P_{0,t} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} \frac{P_t^{\varepsilon - 1} \Psi_t + \beta E_t \left( P_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1} \Psi_{t+1} \right)}{P_t^{\varepsilon - 1} + \beta E_t \left( P_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1} \right)},\tag{10}$$

where we again give the result under the specific momentary utility function. In fact, this reveals one motivation for the form of the particular utility function chosen. In general, both aggregate demand  $(c_t)$  and the discount factor  $(\lambda_t)$  would appear in (10), but our choice of a utility function that is logarithmic in consumption means that these two effects exactly cancel out. With perfect foresight, the pricing equation can be written compactly as

$$P_{0,t} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} [(1 - \theta_{t,t+1}) \Psi_t + \theta_{t,t+1} \Psi_{t+1}]; \qquad (11)$$

the optimal price is a constant markup  $(\varepsilon/(\varepsilon-1))$  over a weighted average of nominal marginal cost over the two periods, where the weight on the future is

$$\theta_{t,t+1} = \frac{\beta \lambda_{t+1} c_{t+1} P_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1}}{\lambda_t c_t P_t^{\varepsilon - 1} + \beta \lambda_{t+1} c_{t+1} P_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1}} = \frac{\beta P_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1}}{P_t^{\varepsilon - 1} + \beta P_{t+1}^{\varepsilon - 1}}.$$
(12)

The weights on current and future nominal marginal cost represent the shares of marginal revenue associated with the current and future periods.

#### 2.3 Defining Complementarity in Price Setting

The standard definition of complementarity – contained, for example, in Cooper and John [1988]– is that the optimal action of one decision-maker is increasing in the actions of other similar decision-makers. In our context, we are interested in complementarity in price-setting in equation (11). The left-hand side of this expression is the action of the particular decision-maker under study: the optimal price of an individual monopolistically competitive firm that is currently making a price adjustment. Other monopolistically competitive firms are also simultaneously adjusting prices: these firms take an action  $P_{0,t}$  that influences the right-hand of (11). The price chosen by the representative adjusting firm influences the price level directly because  $P_t = \left[\frac{1}{2}P_{0,t}^{1-\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2}P_{1,t}^{1-\varepsilon}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}$  and may also affect current nominal marginal cost. Given that prices are sticky, there can be real effects of variations in the price level, so that these could influence nominal marginal cost. Finally, the weights on the present and the future in (11) also depend on the price level. To determine whether there is complementarity, we must work through these mechanisms and determine the sign of the relevant partial derivative. The extent of complementarity will depend on the behavior of the monetary authority.

#### 2.4 Timing

The sequence of actions within a period is as follows. In the first stage, the monetary authority chooses the money stock,  $M_t$ , taking as given  $P_{1,t}$ , the price set by firms in the previous period. In the second stage, adjusting firms set prices  $(P_{0,t})$ . Simultaneously, wages are determined and exchange occurs in labor and goods markets.

There are two important consequences of these timing assumptions. First, since pricesetters move after the monetary authority, they cannot be surprised by the monetary authority during the initial period that their price is in effect. Accordingly, the monetary authority faces an economy in which it can surprise some agents (those with pre-set prices) but not others (those adjusting prices) within a period. This gives rise to a relative price distortion across firms in the discretionary equilibrium that we construct, which in turn means that there is an interior solution for the monetary authority's choice problem. If we reversed the timing order so that the monetary authority moved last, we conjecture that there would not be a discretionary equilibrium unless some other aspect of the economy were modified, such as allowing firms to reset their prices after paying an adjustment cost.<sup>2</sup> Second, the fact that the price-setters move after the monetary authority means that there is the potential for more than one equilibrium price to correspond to a given monetary policy action.

#### 2.5 Complementarity with an exogenous money stock

We now consider a situation in which  $M_t = M_{t+1} = M$ . Under the assumptions of our model, it turns out to be easy to investigate the influence of other adjusting firm's actions, i.e., to compute the effect of  $P_{0,t}$  on the right-hand side of (11). The constant velocity assumption ( $P_tc_t = M_t$ ) and the particular utility function together imply  $\Psi_t = P_t w_t =$  $P_t(\chi c_t)$ . Hence, equilibrium nominal marginal cost is exactly proportional to the money stock,  $\Psi_t = \chi M_t$ . Since the nominal money stock is assumed constant over time, nominal marginal cost is also constant over time and (11) becomes

$$P_{0,t} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1} \chi M.$$

This equilibrium relationship means that there is an exactly zero effect of  $P_{0,t}$  on the right-hand side: there is no complementarity in price-setting in this model when the nominal money supply is constant.

#### **2.6** Summarizing the economy by $p_0$ and m

Under discretionary policy, the monetary authority will not choose to keep the nominal money supply constant. Therefore, the optimal pricing condition (11) will not simplify to a static equation. In general, however, equilibrium will be a function of just two variables: a measure of the price set by adjusting firms and a measure of monetary policy. We construct these variables by normalizing nominal prices and money by the single nominal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The nonexistence of a discretionary equilibrium is a feature of Ireland's [1997] analysis of a model in which all prices are set simultaneously, before the monetary authority determines the current money supply.

state variable in this economy, the price set by firms in the previous period  $(P_{1,t} = P_{0,t-1})$ . Define the normalized money supply as

$$m_t = M_t / P_{1,t},\tag{13}$$

and the normalized price set by adjusting firms in the current period as

$$p_{0,t} = P_{0,t}/P_{1,t}.$$
(14)

We can then express all variables of interest as functions of these two normalized variables. From (4), the normalized price level is a function of only  $p_{0,t}$ :

$$\frac{P_t}{P_{1,t}} = g(p_{0,t}),$$

where

$$g(p_{0,t}) \equiv \left[\frac{1}{2}p_{0,t}^{1-\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\varepsilon}}$$

Aggregate demand is a function of both  $p_{0,t}$  and  $m_t$ :

$$c_t = c(p_{0,t}, m_t) \equiv \frac{m_t}{g(p_{0,t})}$$

This follows from the money demand equation:

$$c_t = \frac{M_t}{P_t} = \frac{M_t}{P_{1,t}} \frac{P_{1,t}}{P_t} = \frac{m_t}{g(p_{0,t})}$$

Further, since  $n_t = \left[\frac{1}{2}n_{0,t} + \frac{1}{2}n_{1,t}\right] = \left[\frac{1}{2}c_{0,t} + \frac{1}{2}c_{1,t}\right]$ , we can use the individual demands together to show that total labor input is also pinned down by  $p_{0,t}$  and  $m_t$ :

$$n_t = n(p_{0,t}, m_t) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \cdot c(p_{0,t}, m_t) \cdot [g(p_{0,t})]^{\varepsilon} \cdot \left(p_{0,t}^{-\varepsilon} + 1\right).$$

Leisure is the difference between the time endowment and labor input. Marginal cost is

$$\psi_t = w_t = \frac{\partial u(c_t, l_t) / \partial l_t}{\partial u(c_t, l_t) / \partial c_t} = \chi c_t = \psi(m_t, p_{0,t})$$

Another variable of interest is the gross inflation rate,  $P_{t+1}/P_t$ . It is determined by current and future  $p_0$ :

$$\frac{P_{t+1}}{P_t} = \pi(p_{0,t}, p_{0,t+1}) \equiv \frac{g(p_{0,t+1})}{g(p_{0,t})} p_{0,t}.$$
(15)

This follows directly from writing the inflation rate as a ratio of normalized variables:

$$\frac{P_{t+1}}{P_t} = \frac{P_{t+1}/P_{0,t}}{P_t/P_{1,t}} \cdot \frac{P_{0,t}}{P_{1,t}} = \frac{g(p_{0,t+1})}{g(p_{0,t})} p_{0,t}.$$

In a steady state, there is thus a simple relationship between inflation and the relative price,  $\pi = p_0$ .



#### 2.7 Two distortions and monetary policy

The monetary authority in this model faces two distortions that are present in the private economy and can be influenced by its actions. First, there is a *markup distortion* that represents the wedge between price and marginal cost: it has consequences similar to those of a tax on labor income. The markup is just the reciprocal of real marginal cost,

$$\mu_t = \frac{1}{\psi_t} = \frac{1}{w_t} = \frac{\partial u(c_t, l_t) / \partial c_t}{\partial u(c_t, l_t) / \partial l_t} = \frac{1}{\chi c_t}.$$

From the derivations above, the markup depends on  $p_{0,t}$  and  $m_t$ :  $\mu_t = g(p_{0,t})/(\chi m_t)$ . Second, there is a *relative price distortion* that represents a wedge between inputs and outputs:

$$n_t/c_t = \delta(p_{0,t}) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \cdot [g(p_{0,t})]^{\varepsilon} \cdot \left(p_{0,t}^{-\varepsilon} + 1\right).$$

The relative price distortion depends solely on  $p_{0,t}$ . It takes on a value of unity at  $p_{0,t} = 1$  (this would be the case in a zero inflation steady state) and is higher for other values of  $p_{0,t}$ . The trade-off that the monetary authority typically faces between these two distortions is that choosing a higher money supply decreases the markup (good) and raises the relative price distortion (bad).

Just as we showed above that all real variables could be described in terms of  $p_0$  and m, the distortions can be described similarly. The summary role of  $p_0$  and m, together with the fact that at any point in time the monetary authority can choose m (i.e. choosing m in the current period is no different than choosing M) has a strong implication for the analysis of discretionary monetary policy.<sup>3</sup> It implies that the level of the predetermined nominal price  $P_{1,t}$  does not restrict the outcomes a discretionary policymaker can achieve, as long as the monetary authority in future periods behaves in the same manner.<sup>4</sup>

We now analyze outcomes under monetary discretion, proceeding in three steps (with each a separate section of the paper). We begin by studying perfect foresight settings. In section 3, we detail the nature of perfect foresight private sector equilibria under a particular class of monetary policy rules. In section 4, we describe a full discretionary equilibrium – with optimization by the monetary authority—in which policy is shown to be in this class of rules. Finally, in section 5, we discuss stochastic discretionary equilibria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>It is important not to misinterpret the parenthetical statement: any choice of  $M_t$  can be replicated by choosing  $m_t = M_t/P_{1,t}$ . However, a *policy* of keeping  $M_t$  constant is not the same as a policy of keeping  $m_t$  constant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>If the future monetary authority paid attention to nominal levels, it might be optimal for the current monetary authority to do the same. We do not consider equilibria with this property.

## 3 Equilibrium with homogeneous policy

We begin by studying the nature of equilibrium price-setting  $(p_{0,t})$  given an arbitrary action by the monetary authority and given perfect foresight. We assume that the monetary authority adopts a policy rule of the form

$$M_t = m_t P_{0,t-1},$$
 (16)

where  $m_t$  is viewed as the policy variable. That is, the money supply is proportional to the prices that adjusting firms set one period ago with a constant of proportionality  $m_t$ . We call this a homogenous monetary policy rule. This form of monetary accommodation of past nominal variables is characteristic of optimal monetary policy under discretion, for the following reason. The monetary authority is concerned about the real variables that enter in private agents' utility. It takes past prices as given, and there is no mechanism by which the level of nominal predetermined prices necessarily constrains the behavior of a discretionary policymaker.<sup>5</sup> Thus, if we viewed M instead of m as the policy instrument, we would find that the optimizing monetary authority adjusted  $M_t$  proportionally to  $P_{1,t}$ , just as is specified in (16). It will economize slightly on notation and computation to view  $m_t$  as the policy instrument, and there is no loss in generality. In a discretionary equilibrium,  $m_t$  will be chosen to maximize welfare; in this section  $m_t$  is arbitrary.<sup>6</sup>

A homogenous money supply rule means that the future money supply depends on the price set by adjusting firms today,

$$M_{t+1} = m_{t+1} P_{0,t}.$$

Consequently, under homogeneous policy and using the preferences introduced above, it follows from the efficient price-setting condition (11) that the nominal price set by adjusting firms  $(P_{0,t})$  satisfies

$$P_{0,t} = \frac{\varepsilon \chi}{\varepsilon - 1} \left( (1 - \theta_{t,t+1}) \, m_t P_{1,t} + \theta_{t,t+1} m_{t+1} P_{0,t} \right) \tag{17}$$

in equilibrium. The derivation of (17) from (11) involves (i) using the fact that nominal marginal cost is  $\Psi_t = P_t \chi c_t$  given the specific utility assumption; (ii) using the money demand relationship  $(M_t = P_t c_t)$ ; and (iii) imposing the homogenous form of the monetary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The word "necessarily" appears because one could construct non-Markov equilibria in which all agents agreed that  $P_{1,t}$  did constrain the monetary authority. See previous footnote. We do not study such equilibria.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>By contrast, under commitment, the monetary authority commits *not* to respond to  $P_{1,t}$ , and the choice is over sequences of  $M_t$ . King and Wolman (1999) study optimal policy with commitment in the model used here.

policy rule  $(M_t = m_t P_{1,t})$ . From (17), the normalized price set by adjusting firms  $(p_{0,t})$  satisfies

$$p_{0,t} = \left(\frac{\varepsilon\chi}{\varepsilon - 1}\right) \left( (1 - \theta_{t,t+1}) m_t + \theta_{t,t+1} m_{t+1} p_{0,t} \right)$$

$$\equiv r(p_{0,t}, m_t, p_{0,t+1}, m_{t+1}).$$
(18)

The weight on future nominal marginal cost, which was defined in (12), can be written in terms of current and future normalized prices as

$$\theta(p_{0,t}, p_{0,t+1}) = \frac{\beta \pi(p_{0,t}, p_{0,t+1})^{\varepsilon - 1}}{1 + \beta \pi(p_{0,t}, p_{0,t+1})^{\varepsilon - 1}}.$$
(19)

where we are now explicit about how  $\theta_{t,t+1}$  depends on the present and the future. Equation (18) is a nonlinear difference equation in  $p_0$  and m that must be satisfied in a perfect foresight equilibrium with homogeneous policy.

We view  $p_{0,t}$  on the left-hand side of (18) as describing what an individual firm finds optimal given the actions of other price-setters and the monetary authority. On the right hand side,  $p_{0,t}$  then represents all other adjusting firms' pricing behavior, and the function on the right hand side represents the implications of those firms' behavior for the marginal revenues and costs of an individual firm. In other words, r(.) is a *best-response* function for the individual firm. We restrict attention to symmetric equilibria, so that prices chosen by all adjusting firms are identical. We define complementarity in terms of a positive partial derivative of the response function with respect to its first argument. That is: with perfect foresight, there is complementarity if  $\partial r(p_{0,t}, m_t, p_{0,t+1}, m_{t+1})/\partial p_{0,t} > 0$ .

In sections 3.2 and 3.3 below, we will make intensive use of the perfect-foresight bestresponse function (18). First, we will use it to describe point-in-time equilibria; this involves characterizing the fixed points for  $p_{0,t}$ , taking as given  $m_t, m_{t+1}$ , and  $p_{0,t+1}$ . Second, we will use it to determine the model's steady-state equilibria under constant arbitrary policy. That is, we will impose  $p_{0,t} = p_{0,t+1}$  and  $m_t = m_{t+1} = m$  and determine the equilibrium value(s) (fixed points) for  $p_0$ . Both of these exercises will then serve as inputs to our analysis of discretionary equilibria. There, (18) will summarize private sector equilibrium for any action that the monetary authority contemplates, under perfect foresight.<sup>7</sup> With uncertainty, (18) will not hold exactly, but the mechanisms discussed here will still be relevant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>If we impose  $m_t = m_{t+1}$  but allow  $p_{0t}$  to differ from  $p_{0,t+1}$ , then (18) describes the dynamics of  $p_{0,t}$  for constant homogeneous policy. Such analysis might reveal interesting dynamics. However, it is not an input into our analysis of discretionary equilibrium.

#### 3.1 Complementarity under homogeneous monetary policy

There are two mechanisms for complementarity in (17) and (18) that will be operative in our analysis of both point-in-time and steady-state equilibria. First, holding fixed the weights,  $P_{0,t}$  has a positive effect on the right-hand side in (17): it enters linearly with a coefficient of  $\left(\frac{\varepsilon \chi}{\varepsilon - 1}\right) \theta_{t,t+1} m_{t+1}$ , which is positive because firms are forward-looking and the monetary authority raises nominal  $M_{t+1}$  proportionately with  $P_{0,t}$ . Hence the specification of monetary policy has introduced some complementarity into an economy in which it was previously absent.

Second, the weights in these expressions vary with the current price  $P_{0,t}$  (or its normalized counter part  $p_{0,t}$ ). This additional channel plays an important role in our analysis. A reference value for the weight  $\theta_{t,t+1}$  is one-half, since (12) implies that the weight is  $\beta/(1+\beta)$  with  $\beta$  close to one if if  $P_t = P_{t+1}$ . An upper bound on this weight is one: this is a situation where firms place full weight on the future. Increases in the weight raise the extent of the effect discussed above, i.e., they raise the coefficient  $\left(\frac{\varepsilon_{\chi}}{\varepsilon-1}\right)\theta_{t,t+1}m_{t+1}$  that measures the extent of complementarity. The second mechanism is then that an increase in  $P_{0,t}$  (or its normalized counterpart  $p_{0,t}$ ) raises the weight on the future. This occurs because a firm's profits are not symmetric around its optimal price. As the firm's relative price rises, its profits decline gradually, asymptotically reaching zero as the price goes to infinity. By contrast, as the price falls, the firms profits decline sharply toward zero and may even become highly negative if the firm is not allowed to shut down its operations.<sup>8</sup> Thus, when  $P_{0,t}$  increases for all other firms, future monetary accommodation – and the associated higher *nominal* price set by firms in the future – automatically lower's the firm's future relative price. The costliness of a low relative price leads the firm to put increased weight on future marginal cost.

#### 3.2 Equilibrium analysis of steady states

To characterize steady-state equilibria for arbitrary constant, homogeneous monetary policies, we impose constant m and  $p_0$  on the right hand side of (18). Steady-state equilibria are fixed points of the resulting steady-state best-response function for  $p_0$ :

$$p_0 = \frac{\varepsilon \chi}{\varepsilon - 1} m [1 - \theta(p_0, p_0) + \theta(p_0, p_0) p_0],$$
(20)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>At this point in the analysis, we do not explicitly take into account the shut-down possibility. But, when we calculate discretionary equilibria, we do verify that the equilibria are robust to allowing firms to shut down.

with a weight on the future of

$$\theta(p_0, p_0) = \frac{\beta p_0^{\varepsilon - 1}}{1 + \beta p_0^{\varepsilon - 1}}.$$
(21)

Fixed points of the steady-state best-response function are constructed by simultaneously varying current and future  $p_0$  on the right hand side. This is in contrast to fixed points of the basic point-in-time best-response function, which are constructed holding fixed  $p_{0,t+1}$ .

#### 3.2.1 Uniqueness occurs at zero inflation

A zero inflation steady state involves  $p_0 = 1$ . Such a steady state exists when the normalized quantity of money is  $m^* \equiv (\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon-1}\chi)^{-1}$ . In this case, the weight on the future is  $\theta = \beta/(1+\beta)$ , which is roughly one-half. The zero-inflation steady state is asymptotically optimal under full commitment in this model (see King and Wolman [1999]) and provides an important benchmark. Furthermore, if  $m = m^*$ , zero inflation is the *unique* steady state; that is,  $p_0 = 1$  is the unique solution to (20) when  $m = m^*$ .

#### 3.2.2 Multiplicity or nonexistence must occur with positive inflation

We refer to any  $m > m^*$  as an inflationary monetary policy, because if inflation is positive in a steady state, then  $m > m^*$ , as we now show. From (20), given that  $\pi = p_0$  in steady state, we have

$$m = \frac{1}{\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{\varepsilon - 1}\chi\right)} \frac{\pi}{\left[1 - \theta + \theta\pi\right]} = \frac{1}{\left[\theta + \left(1 - \theta\right)\left(\frac{1}{\pi}\right)\right]} m^*.$$

Thus,  $\pi > 1$  if and only if  $m > m^*$ .

Proposition 1 states that under an arbitrary inflationary monetary policy, for low values of m there are two steady-state equilibrium values of  $p_0$ . For high values of m, no steady-state equilibrium exists. In a knife edge case there is a unique steady-state equilibrium.

**Proposition 1** There exists an  $\widetilde{m} > m^*$  such that for  $m \in (m^*, \widetilde{m})$  there are two steadystate equilibria, and for  $m > \widetilde{m}$  there is no steady-state equilibrium.

**Proof.** see Appendix.

From (20), steady-state equilibria for a given m are fixed points of  $r(p_0; m)$ , where we write the best-response function as

$$r(p_0, m) = \frac{m}{m^*} \cdot \left[ (1 - \theta(p_0)) + \theta(p_0) \cdot p_0 \right]$$
(22)

for the discussion of proposition 1.

Figure 1 provides the basis for a heuristic discussion of Proposition 1, based on the best-response function r(). The dashed line in Figure 1 is the 45° line; when r() crosses this line the action of a representative adjusting firm (the horizontal axis) coincides with the optimal action of an individual firm as described by r(). The solid line is r() for  $m > m^*$ . When  $m = m^*$  it is easy to see from (22) that there is one steady state, and it occurs at  $p_0 = 1$ . An increase in m shifts r() upwards. It is thus clear that  $p_0 = 1$  is not an equilibrium point with  $m > m^*$ , but that there is a prospect for an intersection point somewhere to the right as in the case illustrated in Figure 1. At any such "low" stationary equilibrium, it must be the case that the slope is less than one (if  $r(p_0, .)$  crosses the 45° line) or the slope is exactly equal to one (if it is a tangency). Let us call this first equilibrium  $p_0$ .

Suppose the slope at a "low" stationary equilibrium is less than one, so that it is not a tangency and corresponds to the case illustrated in Figure 1. As  $p_0$  becomes arbitrarily large,  $\theta \to 1$ . For large  $p_0$ , then, it follows that  $r(p_0, .)$  approaches the line  $(m/m^*)p_0$  from below. For high enough  $p_0$  then,  $r(p_0, .) > p_0$  since we are considering an inflationary monetary policy  $(m > m^*)$ . We have assumed there was a fixed point at which  $\partial r/\partial p_0 < 1$ , and we have shown that r() lies above the 45<sup>0</sup> line for high enough  $p_0$ , so there must be some other "high"  $p_0$  for which there is an equilibrium  $r(\overline{p_0}) = \overline{p_0}$ . If m is high enough, the first fixed point does not exist, and r() lies everywhere above the 45° line. We label the two equilibria with an asterisk (\*) and carry them over to our discussion below.

There are two mechanisms at work to produce multiple steady-state rates of inflation for arbitrary constant, homogeneous monetary policy. The first is that monetary policy is accommodative: if higher prices are set by other firms today, the future nominal money stock will be higher in proportion. The second is that if all other firms raise prices today and in the future, then the future inflation rate will rise and a single firm today places higher weight on future nominal marginal costs, so that future monetary endogeneity becomes more influential on current price-setting. Looking ahead, the discretionary equilibria we will construct below will involve constant, homogeneous monetary policy. Necessarily, then, there will be multiple steady-state equilibria under discretion. However, in order to construct those equilibria we cannot rely on the steady-state best-response function.

Working Paper Series No. 343 April 2004

#### 3.3 Point-in-time equilibria

Solving the monetary authority's problem under discretion means computing the pointin-time equilibria that correspond to all possible current policy actions, and then picking the best action. Before studying this topic in detail in section 4, we here begin by characterizing point-in-time equilibria for an arbitrary policy action in the current period. Point-in-time equilibrium refers to the values of  $p_{0,t}$  that solve (18) for given current and future monetary actions, and a given future price  $p_{0,t+1}$ . The mechanisms described earlier lead to the potential for multiple point-in-time equilibria. We assume that the future money supply is given by  $m_{t+1} \in (m^*, \tilde{m})$ , (i.e. steady-state equilibria do exist for the assumed value of  $m_{t+1}$  and are inflationary) and that the future relative price is consistent with one of the two steady-state equilibria that may prevail if that level of  $m_{t+1}$  is maintained forever. Under these assumptions, there are either two equilibria in the current period or equilibrium does not exist. Again, in a knife edge case equilibrium is unique.

**Proposition 2** If  $m_{t+1} \in (m^*, \tilde{m})$  is fixed, then there exists  $\check{m}$  such that for  $m_t < \check{m}$  there are two equilibria in period t, and for  $m_t > \check{m}$  equilibrium does not exist in period t.

**Proof.** see appendix for a sketch.

Point-in-time equilibria are fixed points of the best-response function for current period price-setters, which we write without time subscripts, using superscript prime to denote next period:

$$p_0 = r\left(p_0, m, p'_0, m'\right) = \frac{1}{m^*} \left[ \left(1 - \theta\left(p_0, p'_0\right)\right) m + \theta\left(p_0, p'_0\right) m' p_0 \right]$$
(23)

No expectation operator appears because we are assuming, for the purposes of this section, that there is no uncertainty about future m and – more importantly – future  $p_0$ . Multiplicity of point-in-time equilibria occurs for much the same reason as multiplicity of steady states. Because the future *nominal* money supply is endogenous, the current price of other firms has an effect of more than one-for-one on a single firm's desired price if agents weight the future heavily, as they do if  $m' > m^*$  and  $p_0$  is high enough. Note that as long as the *future* money supply is inflationary, there will be multiple equilibria even for noninflationary current values of the money supply.

Figure 2 illustrates the multiplicity of point-in-time equilibria for  $m = m' > m^*$ , for two different beliefs about future  $p_0$ . As above, the dashed line is the 45<sup>0</sup> line that identifies fixed points: the two points marked with asterisks ('\*') on the 45<sup>o</sup> line are the steady states from Figure 1. The solid line is the best-response function when agents expect  $\underline{p}_0$  in the future, with certainty. The low steady state is a point-in-time equilibrium when agents expect  $\underline{p}_0$  in the future, but the high steady state is not, because in that steady state agents expect  $\overline{p}_0$  rather than  $\underline{p}_0$  in the future. In fact, the second pointin-time equilibrium must be at a higher  $p_0$ , because expectations make the future less important than in the steady-state analysis of Figure 1: a larger increase in the weight on the future is required for the second fixed point to occur. The dotted line shows the best-response function when agents expect  $\overline{p}_0$  in the future, with certainty. In this case the higher of the two steady-state equilibrius survives as a point-in-time equilibrium, but the the low-inflation point-in-time equilibrium is now higher than the low-inflation steady state.

From (23), note that for given m', lower m drives down the lower price equilibrium and drives up the higher price equilibrium. Lower current m shifts the best-response function down, with lower current marginal cost reducing the firm's optimal price for any price set by other firms. The lower fixed point falls, but because the basic properties of the response function are unchanged, there is still a second fixed point, now at a higher level of  $p_0$ ; at this high level of  $p_0$ , high future marginal cost offsets the lower current marginal cost. Current monetary policy actions thus affect the two equilibria in very different ways.

Figure 2 illustrates that beliefs about both current and future equilibrium selection can affect the opportunities available to a discretionary monetary authority. Raising the current money supply shifts out the best-response function for firms, resulting in a lower high- $p_0$  equilibrium and higher low- $p_0$  equilibrium. The likelihood of each equilibrium in the present will thus alter the trade-off facing the monetary authority. Beliefs about *future* equilibrium selection shift the current period best-response function for a given current money supply, and thus also alter the trade-off facing the current monetary authority.

## 4 Discretion under perfect foresight

In a perfect foresight discretionary equilibrium, the current monetary authority sets the money stock to maximize the representative private agent's welfare, subject to

- 1. The behavior of the future monetary authority (m').
- 2. The behavior of firms in the future  $(p'_0)$ .

3. Optimal pricing by firms in the current period  $(p_0)$ . The monetary authority must have beliefs about the selection rule used to determine  $p_0$  when a contemplated value of m leads to multiple equilibrium values of  $p_0$ .

Two conditions define a stationary perfect foresight equilibrium with discretion: (i) the current and future monetary authority each choose the same action; and (ii) the selection rule specifies that only one equilibrium will prevail in every period. It is common knowledge which equilibrium will prevail.

As we noted above, it is the essence of discretion in monetary policy that certain predetermined nominal variables are taken as given by the monetary authority. Here, the current money supply is set proportionally to the previously set price,  $P_{1,t} = P_{0,t-1}$ . This leads us to view m as the monetary authority's choice variable. Our analysis of equilibrium under arbitrary choice of m revealed that in general there were either two point-in-time equilibria or no point-in-time equilibria, as long as future policy was expected to be inflationary. This leads us to expect multiple discretionary equilibria. In this section we analyze discretionary equilibria where there is a constant probability of 1.0 on one of the two private sector equilibria.

#### 4.1 Constructing Discretionary Equilibria

We look for a stationary, discretionary equilibrium, which is a value of m that maximizes u(c, l) subject to the constraints above when m' = m. We have used two computational approaches to find this fixed point. A comparison of the two approaches is revealing about the nature of the multiple equilibria we encounter.

The first computational method involves iterating on steady states. We assume that all future monetary authorities follow some fixed rule m'. Next, we determine the steady state that prevails including the value of  $p'_0$ . Then, we confront the current monetary policy authority with these beliefs and ask her to optimize, given the constraints including the selection rule. If she chooses an m such that |m - m'| is sufficiently small, then we have an approximate fixed point. If not, then we adjust the future monetary policy rule in the direction of her choice and go through the process again until we have achieved an approximate fixed point. This approach conceptually matches our discussion throughout the text, but leaves open an important economic question: are the equilibria that we construct critically dependent on the infinite horizon nature of the problem?

The second computational method involves backward induction on finite horizon

economies. We begin with a last period, in which firms are not forward-looking in their price setting and deduce that there is a single equilibrium, including an optimal action for the monetary authority  $m_T > m^*$  and a unique equilibrium relative price  $p_{0,T}$ . Then, we step back one period, taking as given the future monetary action and the future relative price. We find that there are two private sector equilibria. In fact, this is inevitable, because the first step backwards creates a version of our point-in-time analysis above. Consequently, this approach establishes that the phenomena are associated with forwardlooking pricing and homogenous monetary policy, rather than with an infinite horizon. To construct stationary nonstochastic equilibria using this approach, we can iterate backwards from the last period, computing the optimal policy,  $\{m_T, m_{T-1}, ....\}$  and stop the process when  $|m_{t+1} - m_t|$  is small, taking  $m_t = m$  as an approximate fixed point.

In either computational approach, our work begins from the perspective that the relevant dynamic equilibrium is one that is Markovian, in the sense of Krusell and Rios-Rull [1999]. In general, this equilibrium concept restricts the actions of the policymaker to depend on a set of fundamental state variables that have intrinsic relevance to the equilibrium. In our setting, there are no such state variables, so that search for a nonstochastic Markov equilibrium corresponds to determining constant levels of public and private actions. When we do so, we find that there is more than one nonstochastic Markov equilibrium. We then consider a stochastic discretionary equilibrium in which each period's equilibrium outcome is determined by a sunspot that shifts private sector beliefs. When we consider this extension, we continue to assume that the monetary authority makes its actions a function of the state variables that are relevant to the private sector. We focus on Markov equilibria because these impose the most structure on the problem (making clear that our multiplicity arises from a single source) and provide the most tractable solution. Furthermore, the Markov equilibria of the model have natural analogues in a finite-horizon version of the model, making it clear that our results do not depend on whether the model is literally an infinite horizon one or simply the convenient stationary limit of a sequence of finite horizon models.

The numerical examples that we study next have the following common elements. The demand elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) is 10, implying a gross markup of 1.11 in a zero inflation steady state. The preference parameter ( $\chi$ ) is 0.9, and for convenience we set the time endowment to 5. Taken together with the markup, this implies that agents will work one fifth of their time (n = 1) in a zero inflation steady state. With zero inflation, c = n = 1since there are no relative price distortions, and thus  $m^* = 1$ . Further, leisure (l) is then 5-c. Accordingly, in a zero inflation stationary state, utility is just  $\ln(1) + 0.9 \cdot (5-1)$ . A first-best outcome would dictate that u(c, l) be maximized subject to c = (1-l). For the specified preferences, this leads to a first order condition  $\frac{1}{n} = \chi$  or an efficient level of work (n) of 1.11. So, the increase in work from cutting the gross markup to one is 11.1%.

### 4.2 Optimistic Equilibrium

If the discretionary monetary authority knows that the low equilibrium will prevail, then its problem is to maximize

$$u(c,l) + v(\underline{p_0}';m')$$

where  $v(\underline{p_0}'; m')$  denotes the future utility that corresponds to a steady state with m' and selection of the low- $p_0$  equilibrium with probability 1.0. The maximization is subject to

$$c = c(m, \underline{p_0})$$

$$l = l(m, \underline{p_0})$$

$$\underline{p_0} = r(\underline{p_0}, \underline{p_0}', m, m'),$$

where r() denotes the response function on the right hand side of (23), and the presence of  $\underline{p_0}$  instead of  $p_0$  is meant to imply that we place probability one on the low- $p_0$  fixed point of the response function. The monetary authority understands that future utility and current price determination is influenced by the actions of the future monetary authority, but has no way of influencing its behavior or the future price that will prevail. So, the monetary authority maximizes current period utility.

#### 4.2.1 Exploiting initial conditions

Figure 3 provides some insight into the nature of the monetary authority's choice when it knows that the <u>p</u><sub>0</sub> equilibrium will prevail for all time. For this figure, we assume that future monetary policy is noninflationary ( $m' = m^*$ ,  $p'_0 = 1$ ). The current monetary authority optimally adopts an inflationary monetary policy (choosing  $m > m^* = 1$ ) because it can reduce the markup and stimulate consumption toward the first-best level. It does not completely drive the gross markup to one because an increase in m produces relative price distortions. While the relative price distortions are negligible near the noninflationary steady state, they increase convexly as monetary policy stimulates the economy. Figure 3 illustrates the sense in which New Keynesian models capture the incentive for stimulating the economy at zero inflation, as described in Kydland and Prescott [1977] and Barro and Gordon [1983].

#### 4.2.2 An inflation bias equilibrium

Figure 4 displays the consistent steady-state equilibrium, in which agents correctly forecast the incentives of the monetary authority. Panel A shows the policymaker's objective function, which can be thought of as an indirect utility function: the relevant portion for the current discussion is the solid line, which reaches a maximum at the value of  $m/m^* = 1.01$ . This implies a stationary relative price  $(p_0)$  of 1.022, which is determined along the lines of Figure 2 with agents expecting  $p'_0 = p_0$  and m' = m. Given that there is a steady state,  $\pi = p_0$  and this relative price thus implies an inflation rate of 2.2 % per quarter. At this inflation rate, the monetary authority faces sufficiently increasing marginal relative price distortions that it chooses not to further increase m in an effort to further reduce the markup. Notably, the stationary markup departs little from its value at zero inflation. Stationary consumption is 99.96% of its zero inflation value, so that the markup has changed negligibly (recall that the markup and consumption are directly related by  $\mu_t = (c_t \chi)^{-1}$  with the preference specification used here).

#### 4.3 Pessimistic Equilibrium

We next suppose that the monetary authority instead knows that the high  $p_0$  equilibrium will always prevail. Its incentives are sharply different. Looking at Figure 4, we can see these incentives in the *dashed* lines, which describe a *non*-equilibrium situation in which the private sector and the monetary authority assume that the future is described by  $\underline{m}, \underline{p}_0$  while the present is described by  $\overline{p}_0$ . The monetary authority has a clear incentive to raise  $m > \overline{m}$  since this lowers the markup *and* relative price distortions, with utility being maximized when m is sufficiently high that there is exactly a tangency equilibrium in the temporary equilibrium analysis of Figure 2. Here the monetary authority "takes policy to the limit" of the set of equilibria that are imposed as its constraints. Because Figure 4 assumes optimism (that is, the low- $p_0$  outcome occurs with probability one), there are some inconsistencies in using Figure 4 to discuss an equilibrium with pessimistic expectations. Notably, the monetary authority can lower the markup to less than one, in which case some of the firms in the economy are making losses. But the picture tells the right story: nearer the consistent discretionary equilibrium that is described by a level  $\overline{m}$ , the monetary authority still has the same incentives to raise m, but it does so without producing the curious behavior of the markup shown here.

In fact, it is not necessary to make a complicated set of fixed point computations in this case. A tangency equilibrium is one in which  $\frac{\partial r(p_{0,t},m_t,p_{0,t+1},m_{t+1})}{\partial p_{0,t}} = 1$ . Therefore, we can simply solve the stationary version of the equation,

$$p_{0,t}\frac{\partial r(p_{0,t}, m_t, p_{0,t+1}, m_{t+1})}{\partial p_{0,t}} = r(p_{0,t}, m_t, p_{0,t+1}, m_{t+1}),$$

to calculate the equilibrium value of  $p_0$  (this is one equation in one unknown  $p_0$  because the m = m' drops out). We can then determine the relevant m from the equation  $p_0 = r(p_0, p_0, m, m)$ .

In our numerical example, there is a consistent equilibrium with  $p_0 = 1.17$ , so that there is a 17% quarterly inflation rate in the pessimistic equilibrium with optimal discretionary policy. The associated value of  $m/m^*$  is 1.0295. This value is larger than the one used to construct Figure 3, as it should be: a higher level of m is necessary to produce a tangency equilibrium in the pessimistic case.

There are thus two steady-state equilibria with discretionary optimal monetary policy in our quantitative example, one with low inflation and one with high inflation. The levels of the inflation rates are quite different: about 2 percent (per quarter) in one case and about 17 percent in the other.

### 5 Stochastic equilibria

The generic existence of two point-in-time equilibria and two steady-state equilibria for arbitrary homogeneous policy suggests that it may be possible to construct discretionary equilibria that involve stochastic fluctuations. We now provide an example of such an equilibrium. We assume that there is an i.i.d. sunspot realized each period which selects between the two private sector equilibria: in each period, the low- $p_0$  outcome occurs with probability 0.6, the high- $p_0$  outcome occurs with probability of 0.4, and this is common knowledge.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Our model does not pin down the distribution of the sunspot variable. However, some restrictions on that distribution are imposed by the requirement that every firm's profits be nonnegative in each period. For example, if  $\alpha$  is 0.75 rather than 0.6, this condition is violated in the  $\overline{p}_0$  state, and no discretionary equilibrium exists. As in Ennis and Keister (forthcoming), it would be interesting to study whether adaptive learning schemes would further restrict the distribution of the sunspot variable.

In order for its maximization problem to be well-defined, the monetary authority must have beliefs about the current and future distribution over private-sector equilibria. Above, these beliefs were degenerate. Now that they are nondegenerate, the problem is slightly more complicated. Letting  $\alpha$  be the probability of the low- $p_0$  outcome, the monetary authority maximizes

$$\{\alpha u(c(m,\underline{p_0}), l(m,\underline{p_0})) + (1-\alpha)u(c(m,\overline{p_0}), l(m,\overline{p_0}))\} + \beta v'$$

where v' denotes the future expected utility, which again cannot be influenced by the current monetary authority. It is important to stress that the low and high  $p_0$  values are influenced by the sunspot probabilities, since they satisfy the equations

$$p_{0} = \frac{1}{m^{*}} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{1 + \beta E \pi \left( p_{0}, p_{0}^{\prime} \right)^{\varepsilon - 1}} \right) m + \left( \frac{\beta p_{0}}{1 + \beta E \pi \left( p_{0}, p_{0}^{\prime} \right)^{\varepsilon - 1}} \right) E \left\{ \pi \left( p_{0}, p_{0}^{\prime} \right)^{\varepsilon - 1} m^{\prime} \right\} \right],$$
(24)

where expectations are taken over the distribution of the sunspot variable. For example,

$$E\pi \left(p_0, p_0'\right)^{\varepsilon - 1} = \alpha \pi \left(p_0, \underline{p}_0\right)^{\varepsilon - 1} + (1 - \alpha) \pi \left(p_0, \overline{p}_0\right)^{\varepsilon - 1}.$$

Because the sunspot is i.i.d., this expression holds for both the low and high current value of  $p_0$ . Note that uncertainty prevents us from writing (24) as the simple weighted average that we used with perfect foresight.

### 5.1 Constructing Discretionary Equilibria

We can again apply the two computational approaches described in the previous section to construct Nash equilibria. In implementing these, we assume that the monetary authority and the private sector share the same probability beliefs.

#### 5.2 Optimal discretionary policy

The relevant trade-offs for the discretionary monetary authority are illustrated in Figure 5. In panel A, there is a light solid line between the objective function for the low- $p_0$  private-sector equilibrium (the dark solid line) and the objective function for the high- $p_0$  private sector equilibrium (the dashed line): this is the monetary authority's expected utility objective, which is a weighted average of the two other objectives. The monetary authority chooses an optimal action that is about 1.0202, which is more stimulative than

the earlier equilibrium action (1.01, shown in Figure 4) that was appropriate under extreme optimism ( $\alpha = 1$ ). But it is smaller than the equilibrium action appropriate under extreme pessimism ( $\alpha = 0$ ).

Figure 5 also highlights that the specific values taken on by  $p_0$  in the optimistic and pessimistic equilibrium are endogenously determined in our setup, by current monetary policy and the sunspot probabilities. By contrast, in the essentially static models of Albanesi, Chari and Christiano [2002], the values of endogenous variables are not affected by the probability structure of extrinsic uncertainty.

#### 5.3 Effects of sunspots

Consider now the effects of a sunspot on equilibrium quantities. We take as the reference point the levels in the low- $p_0$  private-sector equilibrium, which involve a markup of about 1.11 (close to the zero inflation markup) and a normalized price that is close to one. If the economy suddenly shifts to the high- $p_0$  private sector equilibrium as a result of the sunspot, then firms become much more aggressive in their adjustments. With the nominal money stock fixed ( $M_t = mP_{1,t-1}$ ), there is a decline in real aggregate demand since the price level rises. Consumption and work effort accordingly fall. Alternatively, the average markup rises dramatically, increasing distortions in the economy, to bring about this set of results. Quantitatively, in Figure 5, the rise in the markup is from about 1.12 to about 1.17, so that there is roughly a 4.5% increase in the markup. Given that markups and consumption are (inversely) related proportionately, there is a 4.5% decline in consumption and work effort.

## 6 Relationship to existing monetary policy literature

The study of monetary policy under discretion began with the seminal papers by Kydland and Prescott [1977] and Barro and Gordon [1983], which we will refer to as KPBG. In this early literature, output is inefficiently low, but can be raised by policies that also produce unexpected inflation. There are costs of actual inflation, so that a consistent equilibrium exhibits an inflation bias. The model that captures these ideas involves a quadratic monetary authority objective and an economic model consisting of linear behavioral equations. There is a unique discretionary equilibrium in the standard model (absent reputational effects or trigger strategies).

In recent years attention has shifted to optimization based models, such as the one

here. Models very close to ours have been studied extensively, without uncovering multiplicity under discretion. We explain why below, and we contrast the multiplicity here with that found by Albanesi, Chari and Christiano [2002] in a different type of sticky price model.

#### 6.1 New Keynesian Models

There is an important recent literature that works out how the standard Kydland-Prescott-Barro-Gordon (KPBG) model can be derived from a fully articulated New Keynesian framework. The key ingredients of the models in this literature are that output is inefficiently low due to monopoly distortions; the monetary authority has temporary leverage over the real economy because of staggered price setting; and the costs of actual inflation are welfare losses associated with relative price distortions. Analyses of discretionary equilibrium in New Keynesian models has been conducted within linearized versions of those models, and using a primal approach to policy (more on this below). Just as in KPBG, there is a unique discretionary equilibrium, and it is characterized by inflation bias.<sup>10</sup>

Our analysis takes the most basic fully articulated New Keynesian model, without linearizing, and shows that there are multiple equilibria.<sup>11</sup> Our model features costs of stimulative policies – which bring about actual inflation – that stem from relative price distortions across goods. It also features benefits from unexpected stimulative policies, which lower monopoly markups and raise output toward the first best level. The model is explicitly dynamic, with firms forecasting future inflation when setting nominal prices for two periods. Multiple equilibria occur because of complementarity among price-setting firms that is induced by the response of future policy to current prices.

It should be clear from figure 2 that nonlinearity is central to the multiplicity of point-in-time equilibria we describe: the best response function of a price-setting firm is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>For a textbook treatment, see the derivation in Woodford [2002, chapter 3]. The inflation bias result under discretion within such optimizing New Keynesian models has been popularized by Clarida, Gali and Gertler [1999].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Much of the New Keynesian literature uses the Calvo assumption of a constant probability of price adjustment. The Calvo assumption implies that a positive fraction of firms charge a price set arbitrarily far in the past. However, for many purposes this formulation has the advantage of tractability. For our purposes however the Calvo assumption is more complicated than two period staggered pricing, because it would add a real state variable to the monetary authority's problem. As we discuss below, adding a real state variable leaves intact the fundamental mechanism generating multiplicity.

nonlinear, and without nonlinearity there could not be multiple fixed points to that best response function. Multiplicity of steady state equilibria could survive linearization, in that one could approximate linearly around either of the two steady state discretionary equilibria. Previous analyses of discretionary equilibrium in New Keynesian models have not uncovered multiple steady states because they have used a "primal approach;" instead of specifying a policymaker who chooses an instrument and must accept whatever equilibria correspond to the instrument setting, they have specified a planner who can choose allocations (thus, prices), subject to those allocations being consistent with private-sector equilibrium.

If the policymaker can commit to future actions, the distinction between planning problem and policy problem is immaterial in New Keynesian models. However, absent commitment the distinction becomes important; the planner's formulation rules out the steady state with lower welfare. To see this, consider a planner in the current period who knows that the future will be characterized by the steady state with lower welfare (higher  $p_0$ ). It is optimal for the planner to pick allocations that correspond to a low value of  $p_0$  in the current period, and thus the low-welfare steady state is not an equilibrium to the planning problem.<sup>12</sup> In contrast, a *policymaker*— who can only choose m — must respect private agents' beliefs. If agents are pessimistic today and in the future, then the current policymaker chooses an m such that the low-welfare steady state outcome is realized today.

Without commitment, it is also important what the policy instrument is. If the policy instrument is the nominal interest rate instead of the money supply, Dotsey and Hornstein [2004] show that there is a unique Markov equilibrium, corresponding to the low- $p_0$  steady state of our model. This "Sargent and Wallace on their head" result is somewhat misleading however: the focus on Markov equilibria rules out a continuum of equilibria that would exist for exogenous fixed nominal interest rate policies.

#### 6.2 Albanesi, Chari and Christiano

Our paper is closely related to recent work by Albanesi, Chari and Christiano [2002]. They find multiple equilibria in an essentially static model where a portion of monopolistically competitive firms must set prices before the monetary authority's action

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Wolman [2001] illustrates the exact discretionary solution to the planner's problem in this model, and Dotsey and Hornstein [2003] solve the discretionary planner's problem of this model using an LQ approximation. In neither case does multiplicity arise.

in each period. At the same time, the structure of the model they study is quite different from ours. The stimulative policies that produce inflation in their model also raise nominal interest rates and lead to money demand distortions, either by driving a relative price wedge between the cost of buying goods on cash and credit or by increasing transactions time. A monetary authority thus faces a trade-off between the benefits of driving down the markup and these costs. In our model, instead of the costs of realized inflation being related to money demand, they involve price distortions across goods whose prices were set in different periods.<sup>13</sup>

If there are sunspots which switch the economy between equilibria, there are also important differences in the consequences that are suggested by our model from those suggested by the ACC models. In our setting, if a high inflation equilibrium occurs when agents attach low probability to such an event, then there will be a decline in output because aggregate demand will fall and the average markup will increase. By contrast, in the ACC models, a switch from low inflation to high inflation will have little effect on the average markup or output, with the main difference being the extent of money demand distortions. Since the ACC models are essentially static ones, there is also another difference: there is no feedback between the likelihood that economic agents attach to future equilibria and the levels of inflation and output at a point in time. Accordingly beliefs about the future are of no bearing for current events. In our model, beliefs about future outcomes affect the nature of the current policy problem because firms setting their price in the current period care about both current and future monetary policy.

## 7 Discretion and Multiplicity more Generally

Multiple equilibria arise under discretion in our model because of policy-induced complementarity among private agents. The complementarity involves interaction between forward-looking firms and a future policymaker who will respond to the state variable determined by those firms. We will argue here that similar types of complementarity are present more generally when policy is formulated without commitment. For generalizations of our staggered pricing model we know this to be true, and thus we speculate on some empirical implications of monetary discretion. We then describe some other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Dedola (2000) studies discretionary policy in a Rotemberg-style model of pricing, and finds multiple equilibria. Dedola models money demand using a cash-in-advance constraint, and like Albanesi, Chari and Christiano, the multiple equilibria are related to the money demand specification.

contexts in which discretion can lead to multiple equilibria because of policy-induced complementarity among private agents.

#### 7.1 Greater Price Stickiness

Multiplicity of equilibrium under discretion is not an artifact of two-period staggered pricing. The key model element generating multiplicity is the existence of a nominal state variable (here, the nominal price set by firms that adjusted their price in the previous period). With prices set for more than two periods, such a nominal state variable would still exist, but it would be an index of those nominal prices charged in the current period but chosen in previous periods. Furthermore, there would be real state variables, namely ratios of the current period nominal prices chosen by firms in previous periods. Solving for an equilibrium under discretion is more complicated when there is a real state that constrains the monetary authority. In Khan, King and Wolman [2001], we show that multiple equilibria still arise with three-period staggered pricing. However, that analysis is conducted using backward induction on a finite horizon model, and already with a two period horizon we encounter some headaches. There are discontinuities in the monetary authority's policy functions, which makes it computationally difficult – though not impossible – to extend the horizon beyond two periods. For this reason we chose to focus here on the model without a state variable, where we are able to characterize equilibrium with an infinite horizon.

### 7.2 Empirical implications

There are tantalizing empirical implications of the kind of model we have discussed here. First, a model with multiple steady state rates of inflation can potentially explain why monetary policymakers can be caught at a high rate of inflation, in what Chari, Christiano and Eichenbaum [1998] call an "expectations trap." This could explain wide variation in inflation rates across countries or time periods displaying similar structural features.

Second, the effect of sunspots on economic activity that we just discussed in section 5.3 is a situation of "unexpected stagflation" arising because of shifting beliefs. Goodfriend [1993] describes post-war U.S. recessions as arising from "inflation scares", situations in which markets suddenly come to expect higher inflation and a contraction in aggregate demand occurs. The effect that we describe above seems to capture some aspects of this perspective, but it does not involve the increases in long-term expectations of inflation reflected in market interest rates. To consider such effects, which may be important for

understanding the interaction of the U.S. central bank with the real economy during the post-war period, one could introduce persistence into the sunspot process determining equilibrium selection.

#### 7.3 Discretionary policy in other contexts

Our emphasis in this paper has been on the link between lack of commitment for monetary policy and multiple equilibria. However, the nature of the mechanism by which lack of commitment leads to multiple equilibria suggests that the phenomenon is more general. Whenever private agents' forecasts of future policy affect an endogenous state variable to which future policy responds, there is the potential for policy-induced complementarity among private agents actions. Just as in our model, even without "structural" complementarity among private agents, discretionary policy can create complementarity and lead to multiple equilibria.

A slight modification of Kydland and Prescott's flood control example fits into this framework. Suppose private agents choose among two locations, one of which experiences flooding with positive probability. Agents have idiosyncratic preferences over the two locations. After agents choose locations, a government chooses whether to impose taxes and undertake costly flood control. Suppose that the government is willing to let a small number of inhabitants be flooded, but will undertake flood control if enough agents move to the flood plain. There can be multiple equilibria here of the sort that arise in our model. When a single agent believes that no others will move to the flood plain, she knows that the government will not protect her, and chooses not to locate in the flood plain. When the agent believes that many others will move to the flood plain, she knows that the government will protect her, and she chooses to live in the flood plain. Thus, there is complementarity in agents' location decisions. That complementarity is not intrinsic, but is induced by the fact that location decisions determine a state (population in the floodplain) to which the future policymaker responds. If the policymaker could commit in advance to its action, it would determine a unique equilibrium.

Another example of lack of commitment leading to multiple equilibria comes from Glomm and Ravikumar's [1995] model of public expenditure on education. In their OLG model, young agents choose how much time to devote to learning, given their expectation of the income tax rate in the next period. Individual young agents' decisions in the current period determine next period's individual and aggregate stock of human capital. In turn, next period's government chooses the optimal tax rate as a function of the aggregate stock of human capital, in order to fund valued public education. Thus, the future tax rate effectively responds to expectations of the future tax rate. Or, equivalently, an individual agent's current decision about human capital accumulation depends on aggregate decisions because the aggregate determines the future state (capital) to which policy will respond. For certain parameterizations the policy response induces sufficiently complementarity among private agents' decisions that there are multiple equilibria. Again, with commitment the multiplicity disappears.

## 8 Summary and conclusions

We have described equilibria under discretionary monetary policy in a basic New-Keynesian model with two-period staggered price setting. The trade-off that our monetary authority faces is a familiar one. Output is inefficiently low because firms have monopoly power. This creates an incentive for the monetary authority to provide unexpected stimulus, exploiting the pre-set prices and raising output. However, when it exploits pre-set prices, the monetary authority also raises the dispersion of prices, leading to an inefficient allocation of resources. In equilibrium, the monetary authority is balancing the marginal contribution of these two effects.

While the monetary policy trade-off is familiar, the nature of equilibrium is not. Discretionary monetary policy leads to multiple equilibria. The multiplicity occurs because of complementarity in pricing behavior that is induced by the monetary authority's natural tendency to treat the level of pre-set nominal prices as a bygone. Under discretion, in each period the monetary authority moves the nominal money supply proportionately with the nominal level of pre-set prices. This feature of monetary policy means that higher prices set by firms in the current period will lead to a higher money supply (and even higher prices) in the subsequent period. Understanding this mechanism, an individual firm adjusting its price in the current period finds it optimal to raise its price in response to higher prices set by other firms. There is complementarity in pricing, and it leads to multiple equilibria.

When we consider discretionary equilibria that are driven by a sunspot variable, the equilibria involve random fluctuations between different real outcomes.<sup>14</sup> If all firms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The distribution of the sunspot variable shifts the equilibrium, and while we do not pin down that distribution, it is an integral part of the definition of equilibrium. Thus far, we have only considered i.i.d. sunspot variations, so as to produce the simplest possible explanation of the source and nature of multiple equilibria. In future work, we plan to extend the analysis to the implications of persistent sunspots. This
choose to raise prices by a large amount because they (rationally) believe that others are raising prices, the result is a reduction in real aggregate demand and a decline in output relative to the level that would prevail if smaller price adjustments took place. Economic volatility then, as well as high inflation, may be a cost of discretion in monetary policy.

The mechanism leading to complementarity and multiple equilibria here transcends our example of monetary policy in a staggered pricing model. Other environments which share two features have the potential to generate similar results. First, private agents must be forward-looking and their actions must be influenced by their expectations about future policy. Second, private agents' actions must determine a state variable to which future policy responds. These features seem quite widespread, suggesting that lack of commitment may be an important cause of economic instability.

extension would allow us to take the model more seriously as a potential explanation for some of the volatility observed in actual macroeconomic time series.

## References

- Albanesi, Stefania, V.V. Chari and Lawrence Christiano (2002), "Expectations Traps and Monetary Policy," NBER Working Paper 8912.
- [2] Barro, Robert and David B. Gordon (1983), "A Positive Theory of Monetary Policy in a Natural Rate Model," *Journal of Political Economy* 91, 589-610.
- [3] Blanchard, Olivier J. and Nobuhiro Kiyotaki (1987), "Monopolistic Competition and the Effects of Aggregate Demand," *American Economic Review* 77, 647-666.
- [4] Chari, V.V., Lawrence J. Christiano and Martin Eichenbaum (1998), "Expectations Traps and Discretion," *Journal of Economic Theory*.81, 462-492.
- [5] Clarida, Richard, Jordi Gali and Mark Gertler (1999), "The Science of Monetary Policy: A New Keynesian Perspective," *Journal of Economic Literature* 37, 1661-1707.
- [6] Cooper, Russell W. and A. Andrew John (1988), "Coordinating Coordination Failures in Keynesian Models," *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 103, 441-463.
- [7] Dedola, Luca (2000), "Credibility and the Gains from Commitment in a General Equilibrium Model," University of Rochester Ph.D. thesis.
- [8] Dotsey, Michael and Andreas Hornstein (2004), unpublished notes on Discretionary Monetary Policy and Instrument Choice.
- [9] Dotsey, Michael and Andreas Hornstein (2003), "Should a monetary policymaker look at money?" Journal of Monetary Economics 50, 547-79.
- [10] Ennis, Huberto M. and Todd Keister (forthcoming), "Government Policy and the Probability of Coordination Failures," *European Economic Review*.
- [11] Glomm, Gerhard and B. Ravikumar (1995), "Endogenous Public Policy and Multiple Equilibria." European Journal of Political Economy 11, 653-662.
- [12] Goodfriend, Marvin (1993), "Interest Rate Policy and the Inflation Scare Problem: 1979-92," Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond *Economic Quarterly* (Winter), pp. 1-24.

- [13] Ireland, Peter (1997), "Sustainable Monetary Policies." Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 22 (November): 87–108.
- [14] Khan, Aubhik, Robert G. King and Alexander L. Wolman (2001), "The Pitfalls of Monetary Discretion," Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond Working Paper 01-8.
- [15] Kimball, Miles S. (1995). "The Quantitative Analytics of the Basic Neomonetarist Model", Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, 27, 1241-1277.
- [16] King, Robert G. and Alexander L. Wolman (1999), "What Should the Monetary Authority Do When Prices Are Sticky?" in *Monetary Policy Rules*, John Taylor, ed. University of Chicago Press, 349-398
- [17] Krusell, Per and Jose-Victor Rios-Rull (1999), "On the Size of U.S. Government: Political Economy in the Neoclassical Growth Model," *American Economic Review* 89, 1156-1181.
- [18] Kydland, Finn E. and Edward C. Prescott (1977), "Rules Rather than Discretion: The Inconsistency of Optimal Plans," *Journal of Political Economy* 85, 473-492.
- [19] Rotemberg, Julio J. (1987), "The New Keynesian Microfoundations," NBER Macroeconomics Annual, MIT Press: Cambridge, MA.
- [20] Wolman, Alexander L. (2001), "A Primer on Optimal Monetary Policy in Sticky Price Models," Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond *Economic Quarterly* 87, 27-52.
- [21] Woodford, Michael, (2003) Interest and Prices, Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ, Chapter 3.

### A Appendix

#### A.1 Proofs

**Proof of Proposition 1.** (i) The conditions which characterize a steady-state equilibrium are (20) and (21). Multiplying (20) by the denominator of (21) reveals that these conditions are equivalent to

$$p_0 = h(p_0),$$
 (25)

where

$$h(p_0) = \frac{m}{m^*} + \beta \left(\frac{m}{m^*} - 1\right) p_0^{\varepsilon}$$
(26)

Steady-state equilibria are thus fixed points of h(), and fixed points of h() are steady-state equilibria.

(ii) For  $p_0 > 0$  the function h() is strictly positive, strictly increasing, and strictly convex.

(iii) Define  $\tilde{p}_0$  implicitly as follows:

$$\widetilde{p}_0: h'(\widetilde{p}_0) = 1.$$

At  $\tilde{p}_0$ , h() is tangent to the 45° line. By differentiating h(), we find that

$$\widetilde{p}_0 = \left(\beta \varepsilon \left(\frac{m}{m^*} - 1\right)\right)^{1/(1-\varepsilon)} > 0,$$
(27)

and  $\tilde{p}_0$  is decreasing in m.

Convexity of h() implies that if  $h(\tilde{p}_0) > \tilde{p}_0$  then h() does not have a fixed point, and if  $h(\tilde{p}_0) < p_0$  then h() has two fixed points. We now need to show that for low m,  $h(\tilde{p}_0) < \tilde{p}_0$ , and for high m,  $h(\tilde{p}_0) > \tilde{p}_0$ . From (27) and (26),  $h(\tilde{p}_0) \leq \tilde{p}_0$  is equivalent to

$$\frac{m}{m^*} \leq (\beta \varepsilon)^{1/(1-\varepsilon)} \left( \left(\varepsilon - 1\right) / \varepsilon \right) \left( \frac{m}{m^*} - 1 \right)^{1/(1-\varepsilon)}.$$
(28)

It is straightforward to show from (28) that there is a unique value of m, call it  $\tilde{m}$  such that  $h(\tilde{p}_0) \leq \tilde{p}_0$  for  $m \leq \tilde{m}$ .

**Proof of Proposition 2.** (Sketch) From (18) and (19), point-in-time equilibrium values of  $p_0$  are solutions to

$$\left(m^* - \frac{m}{p_0}\right) = \beta \left(\frac{g\left(p'_0\right)}{g\left(p_0\right)}p_0\right)^{\varepsilon - 1} \left(m' - m^*\right),\tag{29}$$

for fixed  $m' > m^*$  and  $p'_0$ .

(i) The left side is strictly concave and increasing; the right hand side is strictly increasing (since  $\varepsilon > 1$ ), and either strictly concave (if  $\varepsilon < 2$ ) or strictly convex (if  $\varepsilon > 2$ ).

(ii)  $LHS \to -\infty$  as  $p_0 \to 0^+$ , and  $\lim_{p_0 \to \infty} LHS = m^*$ .

(iii)  $RHS(0) = 0. RHS \to \infty \text{ as } p_0 \to \infty.$ 

(iv) Thus, this equation has either two solutions or no solutions.

(v) Can show there is a unique m, call it  $\breve{m}$  such that LHS and RHS are tangent.

(iv) As m increases above  $\breve{m}$ , solution disappears; as m decreases below  $\breve{m}$  two solutions emerge







# Figure 2. Point-in-time best response function for m=m'>m\*









ECB Working Paper Series No. 343 April 2004 Figure 4. Discretionary equilibrium with optimism (low  $p_0$  expectations) Equilibrium m=1.010



Figure 5. Discretionary equilibrium with Prob(low  $p_0$ )=0.6 Equilibrium m=1.020156



Working Paper Series No. 343 April 2004

#### European Central Bank working paper series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int).

- 202 "Aggregate loans to the euro area private sector" by A. Calza, M. Manrique and J. Sousa, January 2003.
- 203 "Myopic loss aversion, disappointment aversion and the equity premium puzzle" by D. Fielding and L. Stracca, January 2003.
- 204 "Asymmetric dynamics in the correlations of global equity and bond returns" by L. Cappiello, R.F. Engle and K. Sheppard, January 2003.
- 205 "Real exchange rate in an inter-temporal n-country-model with incomplete markets" byB. Mercereau, January 2003.
- 206 "Empirical estimates of reaction functions for the euro area" by D. Gerdesmeier and B. Roffia, January 2003.
- 207 "A comprehensive model on the euro overnight rate" by F. R. Würtz, January 2003.
- 208 "Do demographic changes affect risk premiums? Evidence from international data" by A. Ang and A. Maddaloni, January 2003.
- 209 "A framework for collateral risk control determination" by D. Cossin, Z. Huang, D. Aunon-Nerin and F. González, January 2003.
- 210 "Anticipated Ramsey reforms and the uniform taxation principle: the role of international financial markets" by S. Schmitt-Grohé and M. Uribe, January 2003.
- 211 "Self-control and savings" by P. Michel and J.P. Vidal, January 2003.
- 212 "Modelling the implied probability of stock market movements" by E. Glatzer and M. Scheicher, January 2003.
- 213 "Aggregation and euro area Phillips curves" by S. Fabiani and J. Morgan, February 2003.
- 214 "On the selection of forecasting models" by A. Inoue and L. Kilian, February 2003.
- 215 "Budget institutions and fiscal performance in Central and Eastern European countries" by H. Gleich, February 2003.
- 216 "The admission of accession countries to an enlarged monetary union: a tentative assessment" by M. Ca'Zorzi and R. A. De Santis, February 2003.
- 217 "The role of product market regulations in the process of structural change" by J. Messina, March 2003.



- 218 "The zero-interest-rate bound and the role of the exchange rate for monetary policy in Japan" by G. Coenen and V. Wieland, March 2003.
- 219 "Extra-euro area manufacturing import prices and exchange rate pass-through" by B. Anderton, March 2003.
- 220 "The allocation of competencies in an international union: a positive analysis" by M. Ruta, April 2003.
- 221 "Estimating risk premia in money market rates" by A. Durré, S. Evjen and R. Pilegaard, April 2003.
- 222 "Inflation dynamics and subjective expectations in the United States" by K. Adam and M. Padula, April 2003.
- 223 "Optimal monetary policy with imperfect common knowledge" by K. Adam, April 2003.
- 224 "The rise of the yen vis-à-vis the ("synthetic") euro: is it supported by economic fundamentals?" by C. Osbat, R. Rüffer and B. Schnatz, April 2003.
- 225 "Productivity and the ("synthetic") euro-dollar exchange rate" by C. Osbat, F. Vijselaar and B. Schnatz, April 2003.
- 226 "The central banker as a risk manager: quantifying and forecasting inflation risks" by L. Kilian and S. Manganelli, April 2003.
- 227 "Monetary policy in a low pass-through environment" by T. Monacelli, April 2003.
- 228 "Monetary policy shocks a nonfundamental look at the data" by M. Klaeffing, May 2003.
- 229 "How does the ECB target inflation?" by P. Surico, May 2003.
- 230 "The euro area financial system: structure, integration and policy initiatives" by P. Hartmann, A. Maddaloni and S. Manganelli, May 2003.
- 231 "Price stability and monetary policy effectiveness when nominal interest rates are bounded at zero" by G. Coenen, A. Orphanides and V. Wieland, May 2003.
- 232 "Describing the Fed's conduct with Taylor rules: is interest rate smoothing important?" by E. Castelnuovo, May 2003.
- 233 "The natural real rate of interest in the euro area" by N. Giammarioli and N. Valla, May 2003.
- 234 "Unemployment, hysteresis and transition" by M. León-Ledesma and P. McAdam, May 2003.
- 235 "Volatility of interest rates in the euro area: evidence from high frequency data" by N. Cassola and C. Morana, June 2003.

- 236 "Swiss monetary targeting 1974-1996: the role of internal policy analysis" by G. Rich, June 2003.
- 237 "Growth expectations, capital flows and international risk sharing" by O. Castrén, M. Miller and R. Stiegert, June 2003.
- 238 "The impact of monetary union on trade prices" by R. Anderton, R. E. Baldwin and D. Taglioni, June 2003.
- 239 "Temporary shocks and unavoidable transitions to a high-unemployment regime" by W. J. Denhaan, June 2003.
- 240 "Monetary policy transmission in the euro area: any changes after EMU?" by I. Angeloni and M. Ehrmann, July 2003.
- 241 Maintaining price stability under free-floating: a fearless way out of the corner?" by C. Detken and V. Gaspar, July 2003.
- 242 "Public sector efficiency: an international comparison" by A. Afonso, L. Schuknecht and V. Tanzi, July 2003.
- 243 "Pass-through of external shocks to euro area inflation" by E. Hahn, July 2003.
- 244 "How does the ECB allot liquidity in its weekly main refinancing operations? A look at the empirical evidence" by S. Ejerskov, C. Martin Moss and L. Stracca, July 2003.
- 245 "Money and payments: a modern perspective" by C. Holthausen and C. Monnet, July 2003.
- 246 "Public finances and long-term growth in Europe evidence from a panel data analysis" by D. R. de Ávila Torrijos and R. Strauch, July 2003.
- 247 "Forecasting euro area inflation: does aggregating forecasts by HICP component improve forecast accuracy?" by K. Hubrich, August 2003.
- 248 "Exchange rates and fundamentals" by C. Engel and K. D. West, August 2003.
- 249 "Trade advantages and specialisation dynamics in acceding countries" by A. Zaghini, August 2003.
- 250 "Persistence, the transmission mechanism and robust monetary policy" by I. Angeloni, G. Coenen and F. Smets, August 2003.
- 251 "Consumption, habit persistence, imperfect information and the lifetime budget constraint" by A. Willman, August 2003.
- 252 "Interpolation and backdating with a large information set" by E. Angelini, J. Henry and M. Marcellino, August 2003.
- 253 "Bond market inflation expectations and longer-term trends in broad monetary growth and inflation in industrial countries, 1880-2001" by W. G. Dewald, September 2003.

- 254 "Forecasting real GDP: what role for narrow money?" by C. Brand, H.-E. Reimers and F. Seitz, September 2003.
- 255 "Is the demand for euro area M3 stable?" by A. Bruggeman, P. Donati and A. Warne, September 2003.
- 256 "Information acquisition and decision making in committees: a survey" by K. Gerling, H. P. Grüner, A. Kiel and E. Schulte, September 2003.
- 257 "Macroeconomic modelling of monetary policy" by M. Klaeffling, September 2003.
- 258 "Interest rate reaction functions and the Taylor rule in the euro area" by P. Gerlach-Kristen, September 2003.
- 259 "Implicit tax co-ordination under repeated policy interactions" by M. Catenaro and J.-P. Vidal, September 2003.
- 260 "Aggregation-theoretic monetary aggregation over the euro area, when countries are heterogeneous" by W. A. Barnett, September 2003.
- 261 "Why has broad money demand been more stable in the euro area than in other economies? A literature review" by A. Calza and J. Sousa, September 2003.
- 262 "Indeterminacy of rational expectations equilibria in sequential financial markets" by P. Donati, September 2003.
- 263 "Measuring contagion with a Bayesian, time-varying coefficient model" by M. Ciccarelli and A. Rebucci, September 2003.
- 264 "A monthly monetary model with banking intermediation for the euro area" by A. Bruggeman and M. Donnay, September 2003.
- 265 "New Keynesian Phillips Curves: a reassessment using euro area data" by P. McAdam and A. Willman, September 2003.
- 266 "Finance and growth in the EU: new evidence from the liberalisation and harmonisation of the banking industry" by D. Romero de Ávila, September 2003.
- 267 "Comparing economic dynamics in the EU and CEE accession countries" by R. Süppel, September 2003.
- 268 "The output composition puzzle: a difference in the monetary transmission mechanism in the euro area and the US" by I. Angeloni, A. K. Kashyap, B. Mojon and D. Terlizzese, September 2003.
- 269 "Zero lower bound: is it a problem with the euro area?" by G. Coenen, September 2003.
- 270 "Downward nominal wage rigidity and the long-run Phillips curve: simulation-based evidence for the euro area" by G. Coenen, September 2003.
- 271 "Indeterminacy and search theory" by N. Giammarioli, September 2003.

- 272 "Inflation targets and the liquidity trap" by M. Klaeffling and V. López Pérez, September 2003.
- 273 "Definition of price stability, range and point inflation targets: the anchoring of long-term inflation expectations" by E. Castelnuovo, S. Nicoletti-Altimari and D. Rodriguez-Palenzuela, September 2003.
- 274 "Interpreting implied risk neutral densities: the role of risk premia" by P. Hördahl and D. Vestin, September 2003.
- 275 "Identifying the monetary transmission mechanism using structural breaks" by A. Beyer and R. Farmer, September 2003.
- 276 "Short-term estimates of euro area real GDP by means of monthly data" by G. Rünstler and F. Sédillot, September 2003.
- 277 "On the indeterminacy of determinacy and indeterminacy" by A. Beyer and R. Farmer, September 2003.
- 278 "Relevant economic issues concerning the optimal rate of inflation" by D. R. Palenzuela, G. Camba-Méndez and J. Á. García, September 2003.
- 279 "Designing targeting rules for international monetary policy cooperation" by G. Benigno and P. Benigno, October 2003.
- 280 "Inflation, factor substitution and growth" by R. Klump, October 2003.
- 281 "Identifying fiscal shocks and policy regimes in OECD countries" by G. de Arcangelis and S. Lamartina, October 2003.
- 282 "Optimal dynamic risk sharing when enforcement is a decision variable" by T. V. Koeppl, October 2003.
- 283 "US, Japan and the euro area: comparing business-cycle features" by P. McAdam, November 2003.
- 284 "The credibility of the monetary policy 'free lunch'" by J. Yetman, November 2003.
- 285 "Government deficits, wealth effects and the price level in an optimizing model" by B. Annicchiarico, November 2003.
- 286 "Country and sector-specific spillover effects in the euro area, the United States and Japan" by B. Kaltenhaeuser, November 2003.
- 287 "Consumer inflation expectations in Poland" by T. Łyziak, November 2003.
- 288 "Implementing optimal control cointegrated I(1) structural VAR models" by F. V. Monti, November 2003.
- 289 "Monetary and fiscal interactions in open economies" by G. Lombardo and A. Sutherland, November 2003.



- 290 "Inflation persistence and robust monetary policy design" by G. Coenen, November 2003.
- 291 "Measuring the time-inconsitency of US monetary policy" by P. Surico, November 2003.
- 292 "Bank mergers, competition and liquidity" by E. Carletti, P. Hartmann and G. Spagnolo, November 2003.
- 293 "Committees and special interests" by M. Felgenhauer and H. P. Grüner, November 2003.
- 294 "Does the yield spread predict recessions in the euro area?" by F. Moneta, December 2003.
- 295 "Optimal allotment policy in the eurosystem's main refinancing operations?" by C. Ewerhart, N. Cassola, S. Ejerskov and N. Valla, December 2003.
- 296 "Monetary policy analysis in a small open economy using bayesian cointegrated structural VARs?" by M. Villani and A. Warne, December 2003.
- 297 "Measurement of contagion in banks' equity prices" by R. Gropp and G. Moerman, December 2003.
- 298 "The lender of last resort: a 21st century approach" by X. Freixas, B. M. Parigi and J.-C. Rochet, December 2003.
- 299 "Import prices and pricing-to-market effects in the euro area" by T. Warmedinger, January 2004.
- 300 "Developing statistical indicators of the integration of the euro area banking system" by M. Manna, January 2004.
- 301 "Inflation and relative price asymmetry" by A. Rátfai, January 2004.
- 302 "Deposit insurance, moral hazard and market monitoring" by R. Gropp and J. Vesala, February 2004.
- 303 "Fiscal policy events and interest rate swap spreads: evidence from the EU" by A. Afonso and R. Strauch, February 2004.
- 304 "Equilibrium unemployment, job flows and inflation dynamics" by A. Trigari, February 2004.
- 305 "A structural common factor approach to core inflation estimation and forecasting" by C. Morana, February 2004.
- 306 "A markup model of inflation for the euro area" by C. Bowdler and E. S. Jansen, February 2004.
- 307 "Budgetary forecasts in Europe the track record of stability and convergence programmes" by R. Strauch, M. Hallerberg and J. von Hagen, February 2004.
- 308 "International risk-sharing and the transmission of productivity shocks" by G. Corsetti, L. Dedola and S. Leduc, February 2004.
- 309 "Monetary policy shocks in the euro area and global liquidity spillovers" by J. Sousa and A. Zaghini, February 2004.
- 310 "International equity flows and returns: A quantitative equilibrium approach" by R. Albuquerque,G. H. Bauer and M. Schneider, February 2004.
- 311 "Current account dynamics in OECD and EU acceding countries an intertemporal approach" by M. Bussière, M. Fratzscher and G. Müller, February 2004.

- 312 "Similarities and convergence in G-7 cycles" by F. Canova, M. Ciccarelli and E. Ortega, February 2004.
- 313 "The high-yield segment of the corporate bond market: a diffusion modelling approach for the United States, the United Kingdom and the euro area" by G. de Bondt and D. Marqués, February 2004.
- 314 "Exchange rate risks and asset prices in a small open economy" by A. Derviz, March 2004.
- 315 "Option-implied asymmetries in bond market expectations around monetary policy actions of the ECB" by S. Vähämaa, March 2004.
- 316 "Cooperation in international banking supervision" by C. Holthausen and T. Rønde, March 2004.
- 317 "Fiscal policy and inflation volatility" by P. C. Rother, March 2004.
- 318 "Gross job flows and institutions in Europe" by R. Gómez-Salvador, J. Messina and G. Vallanti, March 2004.
- 319 "Risk sharing through financial markets with endogenous enforcement of trades" by T. V. Köppl, March 2004.
- 320 "Institutions and service employment: a panel study for OECD countries" by J. Messina, March 2004.
- 321 "Frequency domain principal components estimation of fractionally cointegrated processes" by C. Morana, March 2004.
- 322 "Modelling inflation in the euro area" by E. S. Jansen, March 2004.
- 323 "On the indeterminacy of New-Keynesian economics" by A. Beyer and R. E. A. Farmer, March 2004.
- 324 "Fundamentals and joint currency crises" by P. Hartmann, S. Straetmans and C. G. de Vries, March 2004.
- 325 "What are the spill-overs from fiscal shocks in Europe? An empirical analysis" by M. Giuliodori and R. Beetsma, March 2004.
- 326 "The great depression and the Friedman-Schwartz hypothesis" by L. Christiano, R. Motto and M. Rostagno, March 2004.
- 327 "Diversification in euro area stock markets: country versus industry" by G. A. Moerman, April 2004.
- 328 "Non-fundamental exchange rate volatility and welfare" by R. Straub and I. Tchakarov, April 2004.
- 329 "On the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States: the knowledge-capital-Tobin's Q framework, by R. A. De Santis, R. Anderton and A. Hijzen, April 2004.
- 330 "The demand for euro area currencies: past, present and future" by B. Fischer, P. Köhler and F. Seitz, April 2004.
- 331 "How frequently do prices change? evidence based on the micro data underlying the Belgian CPI" byL. Aucremanne and E. Dhyne, April 2004.
- 332 "Stylised features of price setting behaviour in Portugal: 1992-2001" by M. Dias, D. Dias and P. D. Neves, April 2004.

- 333 "The pricing behaviour of Italian firms: New survey evidence on price stickiness" byS. Fabiani, A. Gattulli and R. Sabbatini, April 2004.
- 334 "Is inflation persistence intrinsic in industrial economies?" by A. T. Levin and J. M. Piger, April 2004.
- 335 "Has eura-area inflation persistence changed over time?" by G. O'Reilly and K. Whelan, April 2004.
- 336 "The great inflation of the 1970s" by F. Collard and H. Dellas, April 2004.
- 337 "The decline of activist stabilization policy: Natural rate misperceptions, learning and expectations" byA. Orphanides and J. C. Williams, April 2004.
- 338 "The optimal degree of discretion in monetary policy" by S. Athey, A. Atkeson and P. J. Kehoe, April 2004.
- 339 "Understanding the effects of government spending on consumption" by J. Galí, J. D. López-Salido and J. Vallés, April 2004.
- 340 "Indeterminacy with inflation-forecast-based rules in a two-bloc model" by N. Batini, P.Levine and J. Pearlman, April 2004.
- 341 "Benefits and spillovers of greater competition in Europe: A macroeconomic assessment" by T. Bayoumi,D. Laxton and P. Pesenti, April 2004.
- 342 "Equal size, equal role? Interest rate interdependence between the euro area and the United States" byM. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, April 2004.
- 343 "Monetary discretion, pricing complementarity and dynamic multiple equilibria" by R. G. King and A. L. Wolman, April 2004.